
AGENDA 
 

EIA and Improvement Mechanisms 
Subcommittee Meeting 

Monday, December 2, 2024 
10:30 A.M. 

Room 433, Blatt Building 
 

I. Welcome and Introductions ......................................................... Dr. Bob Couch 
 
 

II. Approval of Minutes of November 18, 2024 ................................. Dr. Bob Couch 
 

 
III. Information: EIA 2023-24 Reports & 2025-26 Budget Requests 

 
Presentations:  
• Centers for Excellence (CHE) ...................................................... Dr. Lishu Yin 

Program Manager, Educator Quality, 
Retention & Recruitment (10:45-11:00) 

 
• First Steps to School Readiness ............................................. Ann Vandervliet 

Executive Director & 
Mark Barnes, 

Director of Administration (11:05-11:20) 
 
 

IV. Discussion of EIA Recommendations ................................ EOC Subcommittee 
 
 
V. Adjournment 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
EIA & Improvement Mechanisms Subcommittee Members: 
Dr. Bob Couch, Chair Rep. Neal Collins 
April Allen Dr. Brian Newsome 
Melanie Barton Jerri McCumbee 
Russell Baxley  

 
 

April Allen 

CHAIR 

Brian Newsome 

VICE CHAIR 

Terry Alexander 

Melanie Barton 

Russell Baxley 

Neal Collins 

Bob Couch 

Bill Hager 

Barbara B. Hairfield 

Sidney Locke 

Jeri McCumbee 

Melissa Pender 

Patty J. Tate 

C. Ross Turner, III 

Ellen Weaver 

 
 

Dana Yow 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

 



SOUTH CAROLINA EDUCATION OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 

EIA and Improvement Mechanisms 
Subcommittee Meeting 

Minutes of the Meeting - November 18, 2024 

 

Members Present (in-person or remote): April Allen, Melanie Barton, Rep. Neal Collins, Dr. Bob 

Couch, Sen. Kevin Johnson, Dr. Brian Newsome and Jerri McCumbee 

 

EOC Staff Present: Dr. Rainey Knight, Tenell Felder, Gabrielle Fulton, Dr. Matthew Lavery, Dr. 

Jenny May, Amina Asghar and Dana Yow 

 

EIA subcommittee Chair Dr. Bob Couch opened the meeting and asked for a motion to approve 

the Nov.4th meeting minutes. After the motion to approve the minutes passed, Dr. Couch called 

SC Council on Economic Education Executive Director Chandler Jordan forward to present their 

EIA report and budget requests. 

Jordan informed subcommittee members that the mission of the SC Council on Economic 

Education is to empower teachers to teach economics and personal finance through providing 

training and resources with the ultimate goal to prepare students to be wise stewards and 

productive citizens in an increasingly complex economy. 

She reported that SC Council on Economic Education provides classroom training, help desk, 

workshops, webinars and district service to participants and trained more than 6,000 teachers in 

the past year. 

Of these teachers, each one trains an average of 100 students annually. Jordan also stated that 

resources and programming are provided at no cost to schools and districts and that every dollar 

receives matched support.  

Jordan told committee members that the statewide mandate to complete a half credit unit in 

personal finance has increased the requests for teacher training and curriculum services, for 

which they would like to expand resources. 

She also stated that SC Economics would like increased funding to help expand its statewide 

economic competition teams. 



EIA subcommittee member Melanie Barton asked if the 6,800 teachers who participated attended 

multiple workshops to which Jordan replied yes. Barton then asked if a teacher who attended 

twice would be represented as 2 of these 6,800, which Jordan confirmed and responded they 

would make efforts to track unique teachers so that a more accurate number of participants is 

available.  

Next, Barton asked if they looked at data beyond surveys to which Jordan replied that they look 

at AP economic scores. 

Barton then asked if the SC Department of Education contracts with them to provide Professional 

Development. 

Jordan replied that SC Economics receive a $5,000 grant to help offset costs but also noted that 

it costs $20,000 annually to host the finance forum. 

EOC Director of Strategic Innovation Dr. Knight asked what the number one personal driver of 

teachers coming to SC Economics was to which Jordan replied personal finance.  

Following this, SC Teacher Loan Program Vice President Ray Jones was called forward to 

present. 

Jones stated that the South Carolina Student Loan Program had partnered with the state of South 

Carolina to administer the South Carolina teacher loan program since 1984 and noted the 

program hopes to continue to grow efforts to recruit and retain teachers in South Carolina. 

He then informed subcommittee members that South Carolina Teacher Loan funding receives $5 

million a year to fund the program through the State of South Carolina. 

Jones acknowledged that there is a number of students who receive the South Carolina Teacher 

Loan who choose not to be a teacher and go into repayment on that teacher loan, with those new 

funds placed in a revolving account that is overseen by the treasurer's office. 

Jones then discussed opportunities to enhance the program through refinancing student loan debt 

for those that are already teaching in South Carolina, due to the fact that those who graduate 

college and go into a teaching field typically have debt. 

He stated that being able to refinance some of that debt would be a retention tool to keep teachers 

in South Carolina and could possibly also be used as a recruiting measure. 



Next, Jones shared data on teacher student loan debt stating that nationally, approximately 45% 

of educators have taken out student loan debt, which averages to about $55,000 of debt. He 

stated that South Carolina has a higher average indebtedness of student loans.  

He also shared that nationally, teachers who have been in the profession for more than 11 years 

still have 40% of outstanding debt. 

He stated that allowing for that to be forgiven through a refinance option is something that would 

be beneficial to teachers and help South Carolina’s economy. 

For potential next steps, Jones stated the South Carolina Teacher Loan Program wanted to 

prevent things like double dipping or over borrowing and would be interested to discuss a funding 

model. 

Following this, questions were accepted.  

Barton asked for the current balance on the revolving loan fund to which Jones replied 

$23,000,500. He also clarified that the revolving fund is funded by those making payments on the 

loan.  

Next, Barton asked if Jones could clarify the refinancing piece to which he replied that funds 

coming into the new program could fund itself. He stated that he did not want to use so much of 

the revolving fund that the program ends up denying regular teacher loan program recipients. 

Barton then asked how the program would determine which teachers are eligible first. 

Jones replied that the numbers presented show there was not enough money in the revolving 

fund to forgive all teacher debts and that they must be mindful of an aggregate limit per loan.   

He stated that historically, South Carolina Teacher Loan was done on a first-come, first-served 

model. After funding to a certain limit, they would reconsider teachers who were denied.  

Barton then asked if they would focus on districts that are hard to attract teachers or districts that 

are having high turnover as a Retention strategy. 

Jones replied that considering there is not enough funds to meet the requests, he would like to 

have a conversation about where the highest need is. 

EIA subcommittee member Representative Neal Collins asked if instead of a forgiveness 

program, would it be possible to have a reduced interest program and consolidate. 

Jones replied that this would be possible.  



Barton also replied she liked that idea because it would provide teachers more money in their 

paycheck and make repayment more flexible. 

EIA Subcommittee member Senator Kevin Johnson reiterated an earlier point Jones made that 

some teachers were not aware they could apply through the Teacher Loan Program to which he 

questioned why that would be the case, and if something needed to be done marketing wise to 

combat that issue.  

Jones replied there is a constant attempt to increase the marketing for the South Carolina Teacher 

Loan Program with 150 outreach models, financial aid nights and parent nights around the state 

per year. He stated he believes the issue is that the financial aid process in general is hard. He 

stated the financial aid office at an institution is not aware that a student is going to be a teacher. 

Therefore, the financial aid office creates a financial aid package that doesn't include that.  

Sen. Johnson asked about lengthier time frames for repayment. Jones responded that in the 

federal loan program students can adjust their loan terms. 

Barton asked Dr. Couch to ask the EOC staff to come back for the next meeting with ideas on 

how to discuss the issue more and ideas on alternative teacher prep programs that the money 

could be used to help coordinate. 

She also reiterated the need to identify the eligible districts in a Proviso. 

Following this, Teach for America South Carolina Executive Director Courtney Waters was called 

forward to present. 

Waters stated the goal of Teach for America is to bring excellent education to all students in South 

Carolina by focusing on rural areas through supporting recruitment, development and retention of 

teachers throughout the education pipeline. 

She shared that 100% of principals said that they would hire another Teach for America graduate. 

Waters then shared the following statistics: 

• 93% of first year, new teachers were retained for a second year in their district. She 

clarified there was some movement in Jasper County, where there were international 

teachers whose visas were just up. 

• 90% of students who were tutored by Fellows saw growth on their MAP assessments. 

• 77% of  core members are teaching in rural schools. 

• In 2025-2026, they will focus on recruiting at least between 25 and 30 teachers. 



Wates asked the Subcommittee to approve their financial request to help ensure they can deliver 

the full program continuum. 

Barton asked if Subcommittee members could get the list of where the 24 teacher core 

participants are by school, subject area – and asked for numbers (rather than percentages) for 

the data included on the 23-24 highlight slide. She also requested to see outcomes and hard data. 

Waters replied she would provide that information by the end of day. 

Rep. Collins then expressed frustration over the return on investment for Teach for America. He 

stated that Teach for America is only achieving 1/8 of what it had 12 years ago.  

Waters replied by saying she would love to see Teach for America return to 2014 numbers. She 

believes that desire to go into the teaching profession has changed towards a positive shift as 

Gen Z is committed to service work. She also stated that Teach for America gets more recruits 

when the economy is down.  

Rep. Collins replied that he is not seeing a return on investment from many teacher recruitment 

programs, stating that they have shifted their stated goals to align with their decreased recruitment 

numbers. 

Dr. Knight asked what they would do with the money requested to which Waters replied they 

would use it for recruitment and the development of core members. 

Senator Johnson stated that he thought a good case was made for additional funding but 

requested to know how the program would proceed if the funding was denied. 

Waters stated they would have to cut staff and look for private funds.  

Next, SC Future Makers Executive Director Elisabeth Kovacs presented. 

South Carolina Future Makers was created as the workforce and education foundation for SCMA 

to expose and connect emerging talent to manufacturing opportunities in the state of South 

Carolina. She stated SC Future Maker’s partnership with Tallo would connect emerging talent to 

opportunities in South Carolina.  

She stated Tallo is a closed online platform where students starting at age 13 can create a digital 

portfolio.  Tallo then connects students to opportunities based on their interests and future goals, 

like scholarships, internships, mentorships and virtual career events. 

Following her presentation, Kovacs accepted questions. 



Barton asked how districts get Tallo to students. She responded that this is dependent on boots 

on the ground to help get the information out. 

Barton then asked if internships were available on Tallo to which Kovacs replied yes.  

Next, Rep. Collins asked how they have been funded historically to which Kovacs replied through 

a public, private partnership. Since 2015, they have been under the Regional Education Center 

line item. 

Dr. Couch noted that he has used Tallo and found it effective. He noted that it was important for 

counselors to utilize the tool with students and that he thought the portal could help students see 

what possibilities are available.  

The next presentation was given by Dr. Roy Jones, Executive Director of Call Me Mister. 

Dr. Jones shared that the mission of Call Me MiSTER is to increase the pool of available teachers 

from broader, more diverse backgrounds particularly among  the state’s lowest performing 

elementary schools. 

He stated the following data points about Call Me MISTER: 

• Since 2018-19 there has been a 50.7% increase in total enrollment. 

• Since 2018-19 there has been a 67.4% increase in four-year enrollment. 

• In 2023-24, 18 four-year colleges enrolled a total of 66 new students, exceeding their goal 

by 57 students. 

• In 2023-24, 10 two-year colleges enrolled 24 students, exceeding the goal by 16 students.  

• In 2023-24, there were 35 graduates, exceeding the goal by 23 teachers. 

Dr. Jones noted that Call Me MiSTER requests $750,000, including an increase of $250,000 for 

expansion and growth among SC colleges and additional funds needed to support the current 66 

enrolled students.  

Following this presentation and with no questions, the meeting was adjourned.  

 



EDUCATION OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 

 
Subcommittee: EIA and Improvement Mechanisms 

 
Date:  December 2, 2024 
 
ACTION ITEM 
Budget ad Proviso Recommendations, Fiscal Year 2025-26 
 
PURPOSE/AUTHORITY 
SECTION 59-6-10 of the Education Accountability Act requires the EOC to “review and monitor the 
implementation and evaluation of the Education Accountability Act and Education Improvement Act 
programs and funding” and to “make programmatic and funding recommendations to the General 
Assembly.” 
  
 
CRITICAL FACTS 
The attached are provided as DRAFT recommendations for the Subcommittee to review, amend and 
approve for submission to the full EOC at its December 9, 2024 meeting. 
 
 
TIMELINE/REVIEW PROCESS 

• November 4, 2024: Held public hearing for entities funded by or requesting EIA revenues.   
• November 18, 2024: Held public hearing for entities funded by or requesting new EIA revenues 

and convened to discuss EIA budget priorities. Subcommittee requested EOC staff compile 
priorities of EIA budget from the discussion and present recommendation for consideration at the 
December 2, 2024 meeting. 

• December 2, 2024: Two additional programs to present to subcommittee; subcommittee to 
review and discuss EIA recommendations to bring to full EOC on December 9, 2024. 

 
ECONOMIC IMPACT FOR EOC 
 
 Cost:   No fiscal impact beyond current appropriations 
 
 Fund/Source: EIA 

ACTION REQUEST 
 

  For approval       for information 
 

ACTION TAKEN 
 

  Approved        Amended 
  Not Approved       Action deferred (explain) 



EIA and EAA Budget and Proviso Requests for FY 2025-26 
 

Draft Recommendations for staff for presentation to EIA Subcommittee 
December 2, 2024 

 
 

Section 59-6-10 of the Education Accountability Act requires the Education Oversight Committee 
(EOC) “review and monitor the implementation and evaluation of the Education Accountability 
Act and the Education Improvement Act programs and funding” and to “make programmatic and 
funding recommendations to the General Assembly.”  To meet this statutory requirement, the 
EOC required each EIA-funded program or entity to submit a program and budget report detailing 
the objectives and outcomes of each program for Fiscal Years 2023-24 and any additional 
requests for Fiscal Year 2025-26.  
 
The EIA and Improvement Mechanism Subcommittee met on the following dates: 

• November 4, 2024: Held public hearing for entities funded by or requesting EIA revenues.   
• November 18, 2024: Held public hearing for entities funded by or requesting new EIA 

revenues and convened to discuss EIA budget priorities. Subcommittee requested EOC 
staff compile priorities of EIA budget from the discussion and present recommendation 
for consideration at the December 2, 2024 meeting. 

• December 2, 2024: Two additional programs to present to subcommittee; subcommittee 
to review and discuss EIA recommendations to bring to full EOC on December 9, 2024. 
 

On November 19, 2024, the Board of Economic Advisors (BEA) issued updated revenue 
projections for FY 2025-26.  The BEA identified $44,638,000 increase in EIA funds for FY 2025-26. 
The total monies requested from programs (excluding the SCDE’s requested presented on 
November 4, 2024, totaled $131,707,920.)  
 
 
  



Draft EIA Recommendations from EOC Staff 

December 2, 2024 

Recurring Funds 

Priority Item Amount Increase 
SCDE 

1 Summer Reading Camps $30,000,000 
2 NEW High Quality Charter School Leadership  $272,250 
3 School Leadership Accelerator  $4,609,250 
4 NEW Strategic Compensation Pilot Phase 2 $5,000,000 

 

Partner Programs 

4 SC Council on Economic Education  $150,000 
5 Science PLUS $356,500 
6 Reach Out and Read $250,000 
7 NEW Statewide implementation of 

Imagination Library (serve children 0-5) 
$4,000,000 

 

Total          $44,638.00 

  



Budget Provisos: Draft for Discussion  

EOC Proviso Revision Requests 

FY 2025-26 

 NEW DRAFT PROVISO re: Use of revolving loan funds  

1A.___. (SDE-EIA Teacher Loan Program) Of the available funds in the Teacher Loan 

Program revolving account administered by the SC Student Loan Corporation, up to 

$5,000,000 shall be made available to assist in refinancing student loan debt for all 

certified teachers employed in the public schools of the State. An additional 

$5,000,000 from the revolving loan account will be made available to teachers for 

loan forgiveness patterned after the SC Teacher Loan in the following school 

districts based on the number of teacher vacancies and/or the number of teachers 

of record uncertified in the subject area in which they are teaching: Bamberg, 

Allendale, Colleton, Florence 3, Hampton, Lee, and McCormick. 

 

This proviso deletion was prompted by the EOC’s adoption of the SC K-12 Military 

Readiness Task Force Report adopted in June 2024. This deletion was a 

recommendation.  

DELETE 1.72. (SDE: Standards-Based Assessments Suspended) In the current fiscal 

year, the provisions of Section 59-18-325(C)(3) of the 1976 Code requiring science 

standards-based assessments of students in grade eight and social 

studies standards-based assessments of students in grades five and seven are 

suspended. Of the funds available due to the suspension of these assessments, 

$500,000 must be used by the Department of Education to fund educator 

professional development regarding the South Carolina Computer Science and 



Digital Literacy Standards. The remainder of the funds shall be used to pay for 

industry certification/credentials as approved to measure College/Career Readiness 

for purposes of the state accountability system. 

 

This proviso amendment is a recommendation in a report on Rural Recruitment 

Incentive, due to the General Assembly on December 15, 2024. 

AMEND PROVISO 1A.45. (SDE-EIA: Rural Teacher Recruiting Incentive) (A) There is 

created a program within the South Carolina Center for Educator Recruitment, 

Retention, and Advancement (CERRA) to recruit and retain classroom educators in 

rural and underserved districts experiencing excessive turnover of classroom 

teachers on an annual basis. 

(B) During the current fiscal year CERRA shall publish eligibility requirements and 

applications for individual educators, school districts, and institutions of higher 

education not inconsistent with existing licensure requirements for each, but also 

including:  

(1) Eligible districts identified by CERRA as experiencing greater than eleven percent 

average annual teacher turnover, as reported on the districts five most recent 

district report cards issued by the South Carolina Department of Education and are 

not one of the fifteen wealthiest districts based on the index of taxpaying ability, 

may make application to participate in the program.  

(2) Individuals eligible for incentives shall be willing to provide instructional services 

in an eligible district in exchange for participation in an incentive detailed in item 

(C) of this section, pursuant to the obligations and restrictions stated for each.  



(3) Institutions of higher education eligible to receive education funding as a 

component of recruiting incentives created pursuant to item (C) of this section shall 

not be excluded from participation in Teaching Fellows Program.  

(4) Any incentives requiring individuals to relocate into an eligible district to provide 

instructional services shall not be made available to individuals providing 

instructional services in other eligible districts.  

(C) Pursuant to item (A), CERRA shall develop a set of incentives including, but not 

limited to, salary supplements, education subsidies, loan forgiveness, professional 

development, and mentorship to be provided to classroom educators that offer 

instructional services in eligible districts and shall provide incentive options for 

eligible individuals at all stages of their careers, including high school and college or 

university students interested in entering the teaching profession and including 

individuals entering the field through an alternative certification pathway to 

include, but not limited to, PACE, ABCTE, Teach for American, and CATE Work Based 

Certification. At a minimum, the incentives shall include: (1) Development of a 

program for forgiveness of undergraduate student loans, not to exceed $5,000 per 

year, for up to 7 years, for teachers participating in this incentive that achieve 

certification through an alternative pathway or who have a loan from an institution 

other than the South Carolina Student Loan Corporation or program other than the 

South Carolina Teachers Loan Program. (2) Development of a forgivable loan 

program for individuals pursuing graduate coursework in furtherance of a teaching 

career, including enrollment in graduate level coursework necessary to seek 

additional credentialing or certification relevant to the participants teaching 

practice, or individuals seeking an alternative pathway to certification as a teacher. 



(3) Support for the establishment and maintenance of a teaching mentorship 

program, including salary supplements for teaching mentors not to exceed $2,500 

per year. (4) Other technical support and recruiting incentives as developed by 

CERRA in conjunction with the Department of Education and the Education 

Oversight Committee consistent with the objectives of this section. (D) In addition 

to eligibility and application requirements, CERRA shall develop a process for 

recovering an amount equal to the incentives given to individual participants who 

fail to comply with the obligations associated with a relevant incentive in which they 

participate including, but not limited to, failure to complete a prescribed course of 

study, failure to obtain a relevant 17 certification or licensure upon completion of a 

course of study, or failure to provide instructional services in an eligible district for 

a prescribed period of time. (E) CERRA shall report by July thirty-first of the current 

fiscal year to the Governor, President of the Senate, and Speaker of the House on 

the incentives developed pursuant to item (C) of this section and make 

recommendations for attracting and retaining high quality teachers in rural and 

underserved districts. The report shall contain at a minimum eligibility 

requirements and application processes for districts and individuals, descriptions of 

and proposed budgets for each incentive program and an analysis of the number 

and demographics of individuals potentially eligible for each.  

(F) Funds appropriated or transferred for use in the Rural Teacher Recruiting 

Incentive may be carried forward from prior fiscal years and used for the same 

purpose. The Education Oversight Committee is required to complete an evaluation 

of the impact of the funds and incentives related to the Rural Teacher Recruiting 

Incentive. A completed evaluation is due to the House Ways and Means Committee, 

the House Education Committee, the Senate Finance Committee, the Senate 



Education Committee and the Governor’s Office no later than December 15 of the 

current fiscal year by June 30, 2026.  

 

 



 
FYI 



© Prenatal-to-3 Policy Impact Center at Vanderbilt University Peabody College of Education and Human Development 

 PRENATAL-TO-3 POLICY CLEARINGHOUSE 

EVIDENCE REVIEW 
October 2024 

By providing access to children’s books and parental training on how to read effectively, shared 
book reading programs can promote family bonding experiences and positive child development. 
There are many local shared book reading programs, and some have been implemented statewide. 
States can support them by leveraging federal funding or making direct investments into the 
programs. The current evidence base does not provide clear guidance for how states can best 
support shared book reading programs, and therefore, these programs are classified as a strategy—
rather than a policy—for improving outcomes in the prenatal-to-3 period. 

Decades of research in the field of child development have made clear the conditions necessary for 
young children and their families to thrive.1 These conditions are represented by our eight policy 
goals, shown in Table 1. The goals positively impacted by shared book reading programs are 
indicated with a filled circle, and the goals theoretically aligned (but without evidence of 
effectiveness from strong causal studies) are indicated with an unfilled circle. 

Evidence Review Findings: Effective / Roadmap Strategy 

Shared book reading programs provide free, age-appropriate books to children and families 
with training and guidance on how to read together. These programs promote nurturing and 
responsive child-parent relationships through the frequent practice of shared reading and the 
accumulation of literacy resources at home. Shared book reading programs also improve 
developmental outcomes by improving child language and vocabulary skills. States can 
support evidence-based shared book reading programs through direct state investments, and 
by leveraging federal funds through CHIP and the Maternal and Child Health Block Grant. The 
current evidence base does not provide clear guidance on the optimal funding type or best 
method for states to support shared book reading programs. 

Shared Book Reading Programs 



Evidence Review: Shared Book Reading Programs        2 

PRENATAL-TO-3 POLICY CLEARINGHOUSE  October 2024 

© Prenatal-to-3 Policy Impact Center at Vanderbilt University Peabody College of Education and Human Development 

Table 1: Impacts of Shared Book Reading Programs on Policy Goals 

What Are Shared Book Reading Programs? 
The early years of a child’s life lay the foundation for healthy development and learning, and this 
age period provides a crucial window of opportunity for infants, toddlers, and their families, 
including for language develpment.2,3 Early literacy developed in the first 3 years of life—also known 
as emergent literacy—refers to the skillset infants and toddlers need to develop before they can 
learn to read and write effectively in the future.6 These skills include expanding vocabulary, print 
knowledge, and understanding letter-sound connections (i.e., phonological awareness).7-9  

Research indicates emergent literacy skills play a crucial role in child language and literacy 
development and are critical for school readiness and academic success.4,5 Reading, talking, and 
interacting regularly with infants and toddlers is shown to develop children’s emergent literacy 
skills by stimulating their brain and motivating them to learn.49,50,54 

Shared book reading is a term used to describe the interactions between an adult and a child while 
reading a book together.18 Shared book reading programs deliver children’s books to all families and 
children that are part of a participating group.17 For example, families may be able to participate 
because they live in a county that is eligible to receive the service or because they are patients at a 
participating pediatrician’s office. 

Positive 
Impact Policy Goal Overall Findings 

Access to Needed 
Services Trending null impacts on well-child visits 

Parents’ Ability to Work (Policy goal outside the scope of this review) 

Sufficient Household 
Resources (Policy goal outside the scope of this review) 

Healthy and Equitable 
Births (Policy goal outside the scope of this review) 

Parental Health and 
Emotional Wellbeing (Policy goal outside the scope of this review) 

Nurturing and 
Responsive 

Child-Parent 
Relationships 

Mostly positive impacts, especially on shared book 
reading practices and children’s books at home 

Nurturing and 
Responsive 

Child Care in Safe 
Settings 

(Policy goal outside the scope of this review) 

Optimal Child Health 
and Development 

Mixed impacts, with beneficial impacts on 
children’s vocabulary skills 



Evidence Review: Shared Book Reading Programs        3 
PRENATAL-TO-3 POLICY CLEARINGHOUSE  October 2024 

© Prenatal-to-3 Policy Impact Center at Vanderbilt University Peabody College of Education and Human Development 

Shared book reading programs provide free, age-appropriate books to children and families with 
the goal of encouraging shared reading practices.18 These programs deliver books in a variety of 
ways–directly to the home, in health care clinics, and through local community partnerships (e.g., 
library, book fair). Often, there is a training component associated with these programs that focuses 
on how to read together effectively, ranging from reading tips on a handout to step-by-step in-
person guidance.  

A growing body of research supports shared book reading as an effective strategy to promote 
children’s emergent literacy skills.19-24 Although there are many local and statewide shared book 
reading programs (e.g., Dolly Parton's Imagination Library, Raising A Reader, Book Babiesi), this 
evidence review focuses on the Reach Out and Read (ROR) program, because ROR is the only 
program that has been rigorously evaluated through randomized controlled trials (RCTs).  

ROR gives every child a new, age-appropriate children’s book at each well-child visit from birth 
through age 5; on average, a cumulation of 10 books throughout the program.27 During the well-
child visit, the clinician provides families anticipatory guidance (e.g., reading aloud strategies) as 
part of the ROR training component.26 Frequently, ROR also has volunteers in clinic waiting areas 
modeling how to read aloud to children, showing parents the techniques of exploring books with 
children, and distributing reading strategies handouts that families can take home.26  

ROR was founded in 1989 at Boston Medical Center (formerly Boston City Hospital) by a group of 
pediatricians and early childhood educators.28 Since then, ROR has grown drastically through both 
public and private funding. Today, ROR programs exist in all states and the District of Columbia, 
with approximately 6,200 program sites (36,000 trained clinicians), serving 4.4 million children, and 
providing 7.1 million books each year across the country.28 

Who Is Affected by Shared Book Reading Programs? 
ROR is a universal program, meaning all children birth to 5 years old and their parents are eligible 
to participate if their health care clinics are a part of the ROR program. Approximately 52 percent 
of participating families come from racial/ethnic minority backgrounds, and 79 percent come 
from families with low incomes.29 ROR research samples are often comprised of immigrant 
families, Medicaid recipients, single parents, and parents with lower levels of education.30-33   

Emergent literacy disparities exist across socioeconomic backgrounds. Gaps in children’s 
vocabulary start to appear as early as 18 months of age, and by 24 months old, research has found a 
6-month gap between high- and low-socioeconomic groupsii in speech processing skills critical to

i Book Babies has one randomized control study. However, this study does not meet our standard of rigor because of its 
high attrition rate. https://fpg.unc.edu/sites/fpg.unc.edu/files/resource-files/Book_Babies_Final_Report.pdf 
ii Socioeconomic groups were based on the score of the Hollingshead Four Factor Index of Socioeconomic Status (HI; 
Hollingshead, 1975). The index is based on a weighted average of maternal education and occupation and has a score 
range from 8 to 66. Families were divided into low (HI<=45, n=23) and high (HI>47, n=25) sub-groups in this study, based 
on a median split of the HI scores in the sample.  



Evidence Review: Shared Book Reading Programs        4 

PRENATAL-TO-3 POLICY CLEARINGHOUSE  October 2024 

© Prenatal-to-3 Policy Impact Center at Vanderbilt University Peabody College of Education and Human Development 

language development.10 Motivated by the pioneer research of 30-million-word gap,11,iii a recent 
replication study with a much larger sample shows that the word gap (i.e., the number of words 
children are exposed to) was estimated to be 4 million words between the highest and lowest 
socioeconomic groupsiv by 4 years of age. Although this average overall number of words is 
considerably smaller than the 30-million-word gap reported decades ago, it still highlights the 
crucial difference in daily language exposure in home environments across socioeconomic groups. 
Children whose mothers graduated from college are exposed to approximately 3,000 more words 
per day compared to children whose mothers did not have a high school degree or equivalent, 
which translates into a 4-million-word gap by 4 years of age between the highest and lowest 
socioeconomic groups.14  

Infants and toddlers from families facing financial instability are less likely to experience activities 
and opportunities that foster their emergent literacy skills, compared to children from families with 
higher, more stable incomes.51 Shared book reading programs can address these disparities by 
getting books into the hands of families and children living in underserved communities. 

What Are the Funding Options for Shared Book Reading Programs? 
States can use both federal and state funding to support shared book reading programs. States can 
leverage federal funding mechanisms such as the Children’s Health Insurance Program (CHIP) and 
the Maternal and Child Health (Title V) Block Grant to expand and sustain ROR.35 States can also 
make direct investments in ROR, or they can include ROR in early literacy grants. 

CHIP allows states to use up to 10 percent of CHIP funding to implement health services initiatives 
(HSI) focused on improving the health of eligible children.36 States implementing HSI have flexibility 
to determine the type and scope of those initiatives. This approach allows states to receive federal 
matching funds for ROR activities.  

Oklahoma and North Carolina are recent examples of states that used HSI funding to expand their 
ROR programs: 

• In 2018, the Oklahoma Health Care Authority (OHCA) awarded ROR a 5-year contract for
approximately $200,000 annually, funded by unspent CHIP administrative funds. OHCA used
the funds and collaborated with ROR Oklahoma in designing HSI to train pediatricians in
how to promote early literacy, among other goals.37

• In 2020, North Carolina used its CHIP funds to implement HSI and received approval to use
federal matching funds to expand ROR. This approval allowed ROR to access up to
$3,013,000 through either state investments or private donations in meeting the federal
matching funds requirement to begin new ROR initiatives.38

iii Hart and Risley conducted research in early 1990s and estimated that a 30-million-word gap (i.e., total number of words 
children are exposed to) exists by the age of 3 among 42 children from various socio-economic backgrounds. However, 
this study has been criticized by other scholars because of its small sample and data extrapolation problems.  
iv Socioeconomic groups were based on mothers’ attained level of education. Mothers in the highest socioeconomic group 
have completed at least one college degree (n=84). Mothers in the lowest socioeconomic group do not have a high school 
degree or equivalent (n=45).  



Evidence Review: Shared Book Reading Programs        5 

PRENATAL-TO-3 POLICY CLEARINGHOUSE  October 2024 

© Prenatal-to-3 Policy Impact Center at Vanderbilt University Peabody College of Education and Human Development 

States can also leverage federal Title V Block Grant funds to support ROR initiatives.35 States must 
match every $4 of federal Title V Grant with at least $3 of state funding.39  

Arizona and Indiana are recent examples of states using these federal grant dollars to support ROR:37 
• In 2022, the Arizona Department of Health Services awarded ROR a multiyear grant of

$100,000 annually, funded by the state’s federal Maternal and Child Health Grant. ROR
Arizona is using the funds to provide training for pediatric clinicians and to distribute books
at an additional 10,000 well-child visits.

• In 2020, the Indiana Department of Mental Health and Addiction awarded ROR $250,000,
funded by the state’s federal Maternal and Child Health Grant. The funding enabled ROR
Indiana to expand programming beyond the city of Indianapolis, train staff, and purchase
books for new sites across the state.

Additionally, states can make direct investments in ROR through direct allocations to ROR or 
through state grants for early literacy programs. As of the end of Fiscal Year 2023, ROR had secured 
more than $10.75 million in public funds across 23 states.40 In Fiscal Year 2023, nine states made 
direct investments to ROR.v Among the nine states, North Carolina and South Carolina each made a 
state investment of $1 million or more.40 

Several states allocated funding for ROR in recent years, including: 
• Illinois: $500,000 was appropriated from the general fund to the Department of Public

Health for a grant to the Illinois chapter of the American Academy of Pediatrics for ROR
programming in Fiscal Year 2024.43

• Connecticut: $500,000 was appropriated to the State Library for each of the Fiscal Years
2024 and 2025. The appropriation is made available for grants in equal amounts to Dolly
Parton's Imagination Library, Read to Grow, and ROR.45

• Minnesota: The state made a onetime appropriation for a grant to ROR Minnesota to
establish a statewide plan that encourages early childhood development through a network
of health care clinics. The grant includes an allocation of $250,000 for each of the Fiscal
Years 2024 and 2025.44

• Michigan: The state allocated up to $4 million from the state school aid fund to improve
children’s access to books and other literacy materials in Fiscal Year 2025. This allocation
includes Dolly Parton's Imagination Library, ROR, or any other shared book reading programs
to children birth to age 5.42

• New Jersey: The state allocated $100,000 from the general fund for ROR programming in
Fiscal Year 2025.41

Why Should Shared Book Reading Programs Be Expected to Impact the Prenatal-
to-3 Period? 
Shared book reading programs aim to improve children’s developmental outcomes through three 
pathways: (1) helping families accumulate early literacy resources, including a diverse range of 
children’s books and shared reading guidance tailored by age; (2) promoting shared reading and 

v The nine states are CT, DE, GA, NC, NJ, OK, OR, SC, and WA. 



Evidence Review: Shared Book Reading Programs        6 

PRENATAL-TO-3 POLICY CLEARINGHOUSE  October 2024 

© Prenatal-to-3 Policy Impact Center at Vanderbilt University Peabody College of Education and Human Development 

emotional bonding between parents and children by encouraging routine reading practices and 
incorporating reading as a bedtime ritual; and (3) fostering vocabulary, language, and literacy 
development to lay the foundation for children’s long-term academic success.18,46,47  

Because ROR is delivered in a pediatric health care clinic setting, the program may also motivate 
families to attend well-child visits regularly during the birth-to-3 period.48 As a result, for families 
who participate in ROR, the program has the potential to increase attendance at well-child visits, 
strengthen parent-child bonding, and promote skills for school readiness. 

What Impact Do Shared Book Reading Programs Have, and for Whom? 
Shared book reading programs promote nurturing and responsive child-parent relationships 
through the frequent practice of shared reading and the accumulation of literacy resources at 
home. Shared book reading programs also promote child development by improving child language 
and vocabulary skills. To date, the current rigorous causal evidence base for shared book reading 
programs is limited to evaluations of ROR programs. Future research is needed that draws from 
other shared book reading programs.  

The research discussed here meets our standards of evidence for being methodologically strong 
and allowing for causal inference, unless otherwise noted. Each strong causal study reviewed has 
been assigned a letter, and a complete list of causal studies can be found at the end of this review, 
along with more details about our standards of evidence and review method. The findings from 
each strong causal study reviewed align with one of our eight policy goals from Table 1.  

The Evidence of Effectiveness table (Table 2) displays the findings associated with participating in 
shared book reading programs (beneficial, null,vi or detrimental) for each of the strong studies (A 
through C) in the causal studies reference list. For each indicator, a study is categorized based on 
findings for the overall study population; subgroup findings are discussed in the narrative. Table 2 
also includes our conclusions about the overall impact on each studied policy goal. The assessment 
of the overall impact for each studied policy goal weighs the timing of publication and relative 
strength of each study, as well as the size and direction of all measured indicators.   

The Evidence of Effectiveness table is focused on studies that assess outcomes in the prenatal-to-3 
period. Only three studies meet our causal criteria and are included in Table 2. One quasi-
experimental study primarily recruited families who were Medicaid recipients from an urban clinic 
in Louisville, Kentucky.A Approximately 200 families participated in the study. ROR intervention 
took place when infants were 2 to 24 months old. Among the participants, 85 percent of the sample 
were African American, more than 90 percent of the sample were single parents, and less than 10 
percent of the sample had education beyond high school.  

Two RCT studies primarily recruited Hispanic families from two urban clinics (no region reported), 
using separate populations from different time periods.B,C Both studies had more than 100 
participating families. ROR intervention took place when infants were 6 to 15 months old. One study 

vi An impact is considered statistically significant if p≤0.05. Results with p-values above this threshold are considered null 
or nonsignificant. 



Evidence Review: Shared Book Reading Programs        7 

PRENATAL-TO-3 POLICY CLEARINGHOUSE  October 2024 

© Prenatal-to-3 Policy Impact Center at Vanderbilt University Peabody College of Education and Human Development 

reported that 59 percent of the sample was unemployed, and that 38 percent of the sample did not 
have a high school degree or equivalency.C The other study did not report specific data on 
demographic information.B 

Of the three causal studies included in this review, none examined how outcomes differed by race 
or ethnicity (beyond simply presenting summary statistics or controlling for race/ethnicity). A 
rigorous evaluation of a policy’s effectiveness should consider whether the policy has equitable 
impacts and should assess the extent to which a policy reduces or exacerbates pre-existing 
disparities in economic and social wellbeing.  

Table 2: Evidence of Effectiveness for Shared Book Reading Programs by Policy Goal 

Policy Goal Indicator 
Beneficial 
Impacts 

Null 
Impacts 

Detrimental 
Impacts 

Overall 
Impact 
on Goal 

Access to 
Needed 
Services 

Well-Child Visits C Trending* 
Null 

Nurturing and 
Responsive 

Child-Parent 
Relationships 

Shared Reading Frequency B, C 

Mostly 
Positive 

Shared Reading Enjoyment A, B, C 

Number of Books B, C 

Library Card & Visits B, C 

Optimal Child 
Health and 

Development 
Vocabulary Skills C B Mixed 

*Trending indicates that the evidence is from fewer than two strong causal studies.

Access to Needed Services 
Only one study included in this review examined the impact of ROR on families’ attendance at well-
child visits. The study found no impact of ROR on this indicator.C On average, families in both the 
ROR and control groups attended three well-child visits between 6 and 18 months old, compared to 
the recommended four visits by the American Academy of Pediatrics.  

Nurturing and Responsive Child-Parent Relationships 
Three studies included in this review examined the impact of ROR on household early literacy 
resources and parent-child reading behaviors. All three studies assessed the impact of ROR 
immediately after the intervention. The studies found mostly positive impacts of ROR in terms of 
how frequently parents and children read together, whether reading is their favorite activity, and 
the number of children’s books at home.  

ROR has positive impacts on shared reading frequency. Two studies show higher percentages of 
parents who reported shared reading at least 3 days per week among those participating in ROR 
(66% in Study B and 78% in Study C), compared to parents in control groups (22% in Study B and 



Evidence Review: Shared Book Reading Programs        8 

PRENATAL-TO-3 POLICY CLEARINGHOUSE  October 2024 

© Prenatal-to-3 Policy Impact Center at Vanderbilt University Peabody College of Education and Human Development 

46% in Study C).B,C After controlling for demographic and socioeconomic variables, the odds of 
parents reading to their child at least 3 times per week was 10.1 times greater in the ROR group than 
in the control group.B One study also found 32 percent of parents in the ROR group reported shared 
reading at least 6 nights per week as part of bedtime ritual, compared to 13 percent of parents in 
the control group.C  

ROR also has positive impacts on parents’ and children’s enjoyment in shared reading. Three studies 
show higher percentages of parents in ROR groups reported shared reading being one of their 
favorite parenting activities, compared to parents in control groups (between-group differences 
ranged from 19% to 30%).A,B,C The odds of parents reporting shared reading being their favorite 
parenting activity was 5.9 times greater in the ROR group than in the control group.B One study also 
found 27 percent of parents in the ROR group reported shared reading being their children’s 
favorite activity, compared to 12 percent of parents in the control group.C  

ROR has mixed impacts on early literacy resources, with beneficial impacts on the number of 
children’s books at home, but null impacts on the possession of a library card and library visits. Two 
studies show higher percentages of families who had more than 10 children’s books at home among 
those participating in ROR (73% in Study B and 61% in Study C), compared to parents in control 
groups (49% in Study B and 45% in Study C).B,C However, no difference exists between ROR and 
control groups with respect to the possession of a library card, frequency in taking their child to 
the library, or a parent visiting library themselves.B,C The number of children’s books increased as a 
result of participating in ROR, but other literacy behaviors, such as visiting a library and checking 
out books, may not occur immediately after the intervention.  

Optimal Child Health and Development 
Two studies included in this review examined the impact of ROR on toddlers’ vocabulary skills and 
found mixed impacts across different types of vocabulary skills assessed in the studies.B,C One study 
found, after a 6-month intervention, children in the ROR group scored significantly higher by 11.7 
percentage points on receptive vocabulary (i.e., ability to understand words) than children in the 
control group at 18 months.B Although not statistically significant, children in the ROR group also 
scored higher by 6.2 percentage points on expressive vocabulary (i.e., ability to produce words) 
than children in the control group at 18 months. However, another study found a null impact of 
ROR on toddlers’ overall vocabulary scores.C  

Additional Insights on ROR Enhancement Programs 
ROR enhancement programs provide additional support for families (e.g., start as early as newborn, 
text reminders to read). Two recent RCT studies examined the impacts of ROR enhancement 
programs.D,E These two RCT studies did not compare ROR to the control group; instead, they 
compared between ROR enhancement and standard groups. Therefore, these two studies are not 
included in Table 2 and are not discussed within the main evidence on the effectiveness of the ROR 
model more generally.  

One RCT study examined the impact of an early promotion ROR program which started at the 
newborn well-child visit, compared to the standard promotion ROR program which started at 6-



Evidence Review: Shared Book Reading Programs        9 

PRENATAL-TO-3 POLICY CLEARINGHOUSE  October 2024 

© Prenatal-to-3 Policy Impact Center at Vanderbilt University Peabody College of Education and Human Development 

month well-child visit.D This study found that compared to parents in the standard program, 
parents in the early-start program scored higher on a questionnaire assessing home literacy 
environment at 6 months of age. 

Another RCT study examined the impact of an ROR-plus program, in which videos and text 
messages were used to promote shared book reading, compared to the standard ROR program.E 
This study found that compared to parents in the standard program, parents in the ROR-plus 
program scored higher on the questionnaire assessing home literacy environment at 15 months.  

These two studies suggest that ROR enhancement programs might enrich the home reading 
environment beginning at infancy, reflective of more books at home, more frequent shared reading, 
and more responsive parent-child interactions. However, these enhancement programs do not 
appear to be widely implemented, nor have they been comprehensively included in the research. 
Future studies should examine the long-term impacts on child health and developmental outcomes 
of ROR enhancement programs.  

Is There Evidence That Shared Book Reading Programs Reduce Disparities? 
None of the experimental studies in this review explored reductions in disparities or identified 
differential impacts by race, ethnicity, or socioeconomic status. Future research is needed to 
explore the impacts of shared book reading programs on different demographic groups.  

Nonetheless, two observational studies highlight the potential of ROR in reducing disparities across 
racial/ethnic and socioeconomic groups. One study found, after controlling for child age and 
parental education, the odds of Hispanic parents demonstrating child-centered literacy orientation 
was 5.4 times greater in the ROR group than in the control group.34 However, this study did not 
compare Hispanic parents to White parents.  

Another observational study found the difference in attending well-child visits before and after 
receiving ROR was the largest among Hispanic families (odds ratio = 2.5), compared to Black families 
(odds ratio = 2.0) and White families (odds ratio = 0.7).32 The same study also found that the 
difference in well-child visit attendance before and after receiving ROR was larger among parents 
who did not have a high school degree (odds ratio = 2.8), than parents who had a high school degree 
(odds ratio = 1.3). Because this study did not use an RCT research design, we cannot assume 
causality on the impacts of ROR. Nonetheless, these findings suggest that shared book reading 
programs may play a crucial role in reducing disparities in public health outcomes.  

More experimental research is needed to establish whether shared book reading programs reduce 
disparities in outcomes for parents and children by race, ethnicity, and socioeconomic status. 
Future research should also examine specific policy levers that states could adopt to effectively 
provide shared reading materials to families and ensure equitable access to these resources.  

Has the Return on Investment for Shared Book Reading Programs Been Studied? 
No strong causal evidence has evaluated the cost effectiveness of shared book reading programs. 



Evidence Review: Shared Book Reading Programs        10 

PRENATAL-TO-3 POLICY CLEARINGHOUSE  October 2024 

What Do We Know, and What Do We Not Know? 
Shared book reading programs show beneficial impacts on outcomes in the birth-to-3 period with 
respect to shared reading materials, practices, and enjoyment within parent-child dyads.A,B,C These 
programs also show preliminary benefits to vocabulary development among toddlers.C  

Some observational evidence highlights the possibility of ROR reducing racial disparities with 
respect to well-child visit attendance for Hispanic families,32,34 but one rigorous study suggests null 
impacts.A To date, the rigorous research base for shared book reading programs is limited to 
evaluations of Reach Out and Read (ROR). 

The studies included in this review were limited by smaller sample sizes (total N<200), cross-
sectional research design, and a focus on urban areas.A,B,C Future research is needed to examine the 
potential impacts of shared book reading programs at scale beyond the foci of shared reading 
materials and behaviors. According to the theory of change of shared book reading programs, early 
shared reading experiences lay the foundation for school readiness.18,46,47 Therefore, it is important 
to examine the effects of shared book reading programs on children’s kindergarten readiness using 
experimental and longitudinal research designs. More diverse samples across racial/ethnic and 
socioeconomic groups in greater geographical locations are also needed to build the current 
evidence base for shared book reading programs.  

Future research is needed that draws from other shared book reading programs, such as Dolly 
Parton's Imagination Library (DPIL).25 DPIL has been implemented globally and has a rich evidence 
base built on large, diverse samples. However, many studies used qualitative approaches in 
examining the impacts of the program. Importantly, all studies that evaluated the effectiveness of 
DPIL to date are based on families who voluntarily chose to participate in the program. As such, no 
randomization of experimental design is used to compare between families who are offered the 
program and those who are not. Nonetheless, observational studies suggest that DPIL is positively 
associated with parent-child literacy interactions, children’s literacy and language skills, and 
kindergarten readiness.11,12,52,53  

Are Shared Book Reading Programs an Effective Policy for Improving Prenatal-to-3 
Outcomes? 
The current evidence base demonstrates the effectiveness of ROR at promoting nurturing and 
responsive child-parent relationships and optimal child health and development. States can support 
ROR through direct state investments, and by leveraging federal funds through CHIP and the 
Maternal and Child Health Block Grant. 

How Did We Reach Our Conclusions? 
Method of Review  
This evidence review began with a broad search of all literature related to the policy and its impacts 
on child and family wellbeing during the prenatal-to-3 period. First, we identified and collected 
relevant peer-reviewed academic studies as well as research briefs, government reports, and 
working papers, using predefined search parameters, keywords, and trusted search engines. From 

© Prenatal-to-3 Policy Impact Center at Vanderbilt University Peabody College of Education and Human Development 



Evidence Review: Shared Book Reading Programs        11 

PRENATAL-TO-3 POLICY CLEARINGHOUSE  October 2024 

© Prenatal-to-3 Policy Impact Center at Vanderbilt University Peabody College of Education and Human Development 

this large body of work, we then singled out for more careful review those studies that endeavored 
to identify causal links between the policy and our outcomes of interest, taking into consideration 
characteristics such as the research designs put in place, the analytic methods used, and the 
relevance of the populations and outcomes studied. We then subjected this literature to an in-
depth critique and chose only the most methodologically rigorous research to inform our 
conclusions about policy effectiveness. All studies considered to date for this review were released 
on or before July 31, 2024.  

Standards of Strong Causal Evidence 
When conducting a policy review, we consider only the strongest studies to be part of the evidence 
base for accurately assessing policy effectiveness. A strong study has a sufficiently large, 
representative sample, has been subjected to methodologically rigorous analyses, and has a well-
executed research design allowing for causal inference—in other words, it demonstrates that 
changes in the outcome of interest were likely caused by the policy being studied.  

The study design considered most reliable for establishing causality is a randomized controlled trial 
(RCT), an approach in which an intervention is applied to a randomly assigned subset of people. 
This approach is rare in policy evaluation because policies typically affect entire populations; 
application of a policy only to a subset of people is ethically and logistically prohibitive under most 
circumstances. However, when available, RCTs are an integral part of a policy’s evidence base and 
an invaluable resource for understanding policy effectiveness. 

The strongest designs typically used for studying policy impacts are quasi-experimental designs 
(QEDs) and longitudinal studies with adequate controls for internal validity (for example, using 
statistical methods to ensure that the policy, rather than some other variable, is the most likely 
cause of any changes in the outcomes of interest). Our conclusions are informed largely by these 
types of studies, which employ sophisticated techniques to identify causal relationships between 
policies and outcomes. Rigorous meta-analyses with sufficient numbers of studies, when available, 
also inform our conclusions. 

Studies That Meet Standards of Strong Causal Evidence 
A. Jones, V. F., Franco, S. M., Metcalf, S. C., Popp, R., Staggs, S., & Thomas, A. E. (2000). The value of shared book

reading in a clinic-based literacy intervention program. Clinical Pediatrics, 39(9), 535-541. DOI:
10.1177/000992280003900905

B. Golova, N., Alario, A. J., Vivier, P. M., Rodriguez, M., & High, P. C. (1999). Literacy promotion for Hispanic families
in a primary care setting: A randomized, controlled trial. Pediatrics, 103(5), 993-997. https://doi-
org/10.1542/peds.103.5.993

C. High, P. C., LaGasse, L., Becker, S., Ahlgren, I., & Gardner, A. (2000). Literacy promotion in primary care
pediatrics: Can we make a difference? Pediatrics, 105(3), 927-934. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.105.S3.927

D. Guevara, J. P., Erkoboni, D., Gerdes, M., Winston, S., Sands, D., Rogers, K., haecker, T., Jimenez, M. E., &
Mendelsohn, A. L. (2020). Effects of early literacy promotion on child language development and home reading
environment: A randomized controlled trial. The Journal of Pediatrics: X, 2, 100020.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ympdx.2020.100020

E. Jimenez, M. E., Crabtree, B. F., Hudson, S. V., Mendelsohn, A. L., Lima, D., Shelton, P. A., Veras, J., Lin, Y., Pellerano,
M., Morrow, L., & Strom, B. L. (2021). Enhancing Reach Out and Read with a video and text messages: A
randomized trial in a low-income predominantly Latino sample. Academic Pediatrics, 21(6), 968-976. doi:
10.1016/j.acap.2021.02.011.



Evidence Review: Shared Book Reading Programs        12 

PRENATAL-TO-3 POLICY CLEARINGHOUSE  October 2024 

© Prenatal-to-3 Policy Impact Center at Vanderbilt University Peabody College of Education and Human Development 

Other References 
1. Shonkoff, J., & Phillips, D. (2000). From neurons to neighborhoods: The science of early childhood development.

Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/9824.
2. Shonkoff, J. (2017). Breakthrough impacts: What science teaches us about supporting early childhood

development. Young Children, 72(2), 8–16. https://www.jstor.org/stable/90004117?seq=1
3. Lenneberg, E. H. (1967). Biological foundations of language. New York: Wiley.
4. Crane Center for Early Childhood Research and Policy, The Ohio State University. (n.d.). Shared story book

reading: Resources and evidence. Retrieved July 16, 2024, from https://crane.osu.edu/our-work/shared-story-
book-reading-resources-and-evidence/

5. Center on the Developing Child, Harvard University. (2007). In brief: The science of early childhood development.
Retrieved July 14, 2024, from https://developingchild.harvard.edu/resources/inbrief-science-of-ecd/

6. Early Childhood Learning & Knowledge Center, Office of Head Start. (2024, March 27). Emergent literacy.
Retrieved July 16, 2024, from https://eclkc.ohs.acf.hhs.gov/school-readiness/home-visitors-online-
handbook/emergent-literacy

7. National Reading Panel. (2000). Teaching children to read. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and
Human Services. Retrieved July 16, 2024, from
https://www.nichd.nih.gov/sites/default/files/publications/pubs/nrp/documents/report.pdf

8. Neuman, S., & Dickinson, D. (2001). Introduction. In S. B. Neuman & D. K. Dickinson (Eds.), Handbook of early
literacy research (pp. 310). New York: Guilford Press.

9. Snow, C. E. (2006). What Counts as Literacy in Early Childhood? In K. McCartney & D. Phillips (Eds.), Handbook of
early childhood development, Blackwell Publishing Ltd, Oxford, UK.

10. Fernald, A., Marchman, V. A., & Weisleder, A. (2013). SES differences in language processing skill and vocabulary
are evident at 18 months. Developmental Science, 16(2), 234-248. https://doi.org/10.1111/desc.12019

11. Hart, B., & Risley, T. (1992). American parenting of language-learning children: Persisting differences in family-
child interactions observed in natural home environments. Developmental Psychology, 28(6), 1096–
1105. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.28.6.1096

12. Thompson, A. M., Klemp, H., & Stinson, A. E. (2017). Effect of the Imagination Library on caregiver-child literacy
interactions and school readiness: Findings from two quasi-experimental propensity score studies. Journal of
Children and Poverty, 23(1), 19-40. DOI: 10.1080/10796126.2016.1187587

13. Ridzi, F., Sylvia, M., Qiao, X., & Craig, J. (2017). The Imagination Library program and kindergarten readiness:
Evaluating the impact of monthly book distribution. Journal of Applied Social Science, 11(1), 11-24.
http://doi.org/10.1177/1936724416678023

14. Gilkerson, J., Richards, J. A., Warren, S. F., Montgomery, J. K., Greenwood, C. R., Oller, K., Hansen, J. H., & Paul, T.
D. (2017). Mapping the early language environment using all-day recordings and automated analysis. American
Journal of Speech-Language Pathology, 26(2), 248-265. https://doi.org/10.1044/2016_AJSLP-15-0169

15. Campbell, F. A., Ramey, C. T., Pungello, E., Sparling, J., & Miller-Johnson, S. (2002). Early childhood education:
Young adult outcomes from the Abecedarian Project. Applied Developmental Science, 6(1), 42-57.
https://doi.org/10.1207/S1532480XADS0601_05

16. Duke, N. K., & Carlisle, J. (2011). The development of comprehension. In Handbook of reading research, Volume IV
(pp. 199-228). Routledge.

17. Justice, L. M., O’Leary, J., & Lennon, C. (2021, November). Caregiver-child shared reading as a strategy for early
literacy development. Crane Center for Early Childhood Research and Policy. Retrieved July 16, 2024, from
https://crane.osu.edu/files/2021/11/IL-Research-Brief-final.pdf

18. Whitehurst, G. J., Falco, F. L., Lonigan, C. J., Fischel, J. E., DeBaryshe, B. D., Valdez-Menchaca, M. C., & Caulfield,
M. (1988). Accelerating language development through picture book reading. Developmental Psychology, 24(4),
552–559. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.24.4.552

19. Pillinger, C., & Vardy, E. J. (2022). The story so far: A systematic review of the dialogic reading literature. Journal of
Research in Reading, 45, 533–548. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9817.12407.

20. Lorio, C. M., Delehanty, A. D., & Romano, M. K. (2022). A systematic review of parent–child shared book reading
interventions for infants and toddlers. Topics in Early Childhood Special Education, 42(3), 222-233.
https://doi.org/10.1177/0271121421998793

21. Jeong, J., Franchett, E.E., Ramos de Oliveira, C,V,, Rehmani, K., & Yousafzai, A.K. (2021). Parenting interventions to
promote early child development in the first three years of life: A global systematic review and meta-analysis.
PLOS Medicine, 18(5), e1003602. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1003602



Evidence Review: Shared Book Reading Programs        13 

PRENATAL-TO-3 POLICY CLEARINGHOUSE  October 2024 

© Prenatal-to-3 Policy Impact Center at Vanderbilt University Peabody College of Education and Human Development 

22. Noble, C., Sala, G., Peter, M., Lingwood, J., Rowland, C., Gobet, F., & Pine, J. (2019). The impact of shared book
reading on children’s language skills: A meta-analysis. Educational Research Review, 28, 100290.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2019.100290

23. Dowdall, N., Melendez-Torres, G.J., Murray, L., Gardner, F., Hartford, L. & Cooper, P.J. (2020), Shared picture
book reading interventions for child language development: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Child
Development, 91, e383-e399. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.13225

24. de Bondt, M., Willenberg, I. A., & Bus, A. G. (2020). Do book giveaway programs promote the home literacy
environment and children’s literacy-related behavior and skills? Review of Educational Research, 90(3), 349-375.
https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654320922140

25. Dolly Parton’s Imagination Library. (n.d.). A free book giving program. Retrieved July 16, 2024, from
https://imaginationlibrary.com/usa/

26. Reach Out and Read. (n.d.). Reach Out and Read’s public policy agenda. Retrieved July 16, 2024, from
https://reachoutandread.org/public-policy-agenda/

27. Klass, P., Dreyer, B. P., & Mendelsohn, A. L. (2009). Reach out and read: literacy promotion in pediatric primary
care. Advances in Pediatrics, 56(1), 11-27. doi: 10.1016/j.yapd.2009.08.009

28. Reach Out and Read. (n.d.). Our history. Retrieved July 16, 2024, from https://reachoutandread.org/about/
29. Reach Out and Read. (n.d.). Our impact. Retrieved July 16, 2024, from https://reachoutandread.org/why-we-

matter/our-impact/
30. Sanders, L. M., Gershon, T.D., Huffman, L.C., & Mendoza, F.S. (2000). Prescribing books for immigrant children: A

pilot study to promote emergent literacy among the children of Hispanic immigrants. Archives of Pediatrics and
Adolescent Medicine, 154(8), 771–777. doi:10.1001/archpedi.154.8.771

31. Silverstein, M., Iverson, L., & Lozano, P. (2002). An English-language clinic-based literacy program is effective for
a multilingual population. Pediatrics, 109(5), e76. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.109.5.e76

32. Needlman, R., Dreyer, B. P., Klass, P., & Mendelsohn, A. L. (2019). Attendance at well-child visits after Reach Out
and Read. Clinical Pediatrics, 58(3), 282-287. DOI: 10.1001/archpedi.152.5.459

33. Garbe, M. C., Bond, S. L., Boulware, C., Merrifield, C., Ramos-Hardy, T., Dunlap, M., Caldwell, A., Shearman, N., &
Miller-Fitzwater, A. (2023). The effective of exposure of Reach Out and Read on shared reading behaviors.
Academic Pediatrics, 23(8), 1598-1604. doi: 10.1016/j.acap.2023.06.030.

34. High, P., Hopmann, M., LaGasse, L., & Linn, H. (1998). Evaluation of a clinic-based program to promote book
sharing and bedtime routines among low-income urban families with young children. Archives of Pediatrics and
Adolescent Medicine, 152(5), 459-465. DOI: 10.1001/archpedi.152.5.459

35. Reach Out and Read. (2024, February). Public policy agenda 2024-2026. Retrieved July 18, 2024, from
https://reachoutandread.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/02/ROR23_PublicPolicyAgenda_FINAL-1.pdf

36. Medicaid and CHIP Payment and Access Commission. (2019, July). CHIP health services initiatives: What they are
and how states use them. Retrieved July 18, 2024, from https://www.macpac.gov/wp-
content/uploads/2019/07/CHIP-Health-Services-Initiatives.pdf

37. Reach Out and Read. (2024, July). Reach Out and Read affiliates are working to advance policy priorities. Retrieved
July 18, 2024 from https://reachoutandread.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/07/PPA_States_FINAL-
july2024.pdf

38. North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services. (2020, December 23). NCDHHS to expand Reach Out
and Read to all North Carolia counties through new Medicaid initiative. Retrieved July 18, 2024, from
https://www.ncdhhs.gov/news/press-releases/2020/12/23/ncdhhs-expand-reach-out-and-read-all-north-
carolina-counties-through-new-medicaid-initiative

39. Human Resources & Services Administration. (2023, December). Title V Maternal and Child Health (MCH) Services
Block Grant. Retrieved July 18, 2024, from https://mchb.hrsa.gov/programs-impact/title-v-maternal-child-
health-mch-services-block-grant

40. Reach Out and Read. (2023). FY23 annual report: Millions of moments that matter. Retrieved July 18, 2024, from
https://reachoutandread.org/fy23-annual-report/

41. NJ. A4700. P.L. 2024, ch. 22 § 02 (2024). Retrieved from https://pub.njleg.state.nj.us/Bills/2024/AL24/22_.PDF
42. MI. H.B. 5507, 102nd Leg. § Sec. 32 (2024). Retrieved from https://www.legislature.mi.gov/documents/2023-

2024/billenrolled/House/pdf/2024-HNB-5507.pdf
43. IL. S.B. 0251, P. A. 103-0589 § Sec. 145 (2024). Retrieved from

https://ilga.gov/legislation/publicacts/103/PDF/103-0589.pdf



Evidence Review: Shared Book Reading Programs        14 

PRENATAL-TO-3 POLICY CLEARINGHOUSE  October 2024 

© Prenatal-to-3 Policy Impact Center at Vanderbilt University Peabody College of Education and Human Development 

44. MN. H.F. 2292-3 § Sec. 20 (2024). Retrieved from
https://www.revisor.mn.gov/bills/text.php?number=HF2292&version=3&session=ls93&session_year=2023&ses
sion_number=0&format=pdf

45. CT. H.B. 6941, P.A. 23-204 § Sec. 36 (2024). Retrieved from
https://www.cga.ct.gov/2023/ACT/PA/PDF/2023PA-00204-R00HB-06941-PA.PDF

46. Huebner, C. (2000). Promoting toddlers’ language development through community-based intervention. Journal
of Applied Developmental Psychology, 21(5), 513-535. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0193-3973(00)00052-6

47. Lonigan, C. J., & Whitehurst, G. J. (1998). Relative efficacy of parent and teacher involvement in a shared-reading
intervention for preschool children from low-income backgrounds. Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 13(2),
263-290. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0885-2006(99)80038-6

48. Mendelsohn, A. L. (2002). Promoting language and literacy through reading aloud: The role of the pediatrician.
Current Problems in Pediatric and Adolescent Health Care, 32(6), 188-202.
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S1538544202800086

49. Huber, E., Corrigan, N. M., Yamykh, V. L., Ramirez, N. F., & Kuhl, P. K. (2023). Language experience during infancy
predicts White matter myelination at age 2 years. Journal of Neuroscience, 43(9), 1590-
1599.  https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1043-22.2023

50. Fibla, L., Forbes, S. H., McCarthy, J., Mee, K., Magnotta, V., Deoni, S., Camero, D., & Spencer, J. P. (2023). Language
exposure and brain myelination in early development. The Journal of Neuroscience, 43(23), 4279-4290.
https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1034-22.2023

51. Justice, L.M., Jiang, H., Purtell, K.M., Schmeer, K., Boone, K., Bates, R., & Salsberry, P. J. (2019). Conditions of
poverty, parent–child interactions, and toddlers’ early language skills in low-income families. Maternal and Child
Health Journal, 23, 971–978. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-018-02726-9

52. Samiei, S., Bush, A. J., Sell, M., & Imig, D. (2016). Examining the associating between the Imagination Library early
childhood literacy program and kindergarten readiness. Reading Psychology, 37(4), 601-626.
https://doi.org/10.1080/02702711.2015.1072610

53. Waldron, C. H. (2018). “Dream more, learn more, care more, and be more”: The Imagination Library influencing
storybook reading and early literacy. Reading Psychology, 37(7), 711-728.
https://doi.org/10.1080/02702711.2018.1536094

54. Brito, N. H., Troller-Renfree, S. V., Leon-Santos, A., Isler, J. R., Fifer, W. P., & Noble, K. G. (2020). Associations
among the home language environment and neural activity during infancy. Developmental Cognitive
Neuroscience, 43, 100780. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcn.2020.100780



Prenatal-to-3 Policy Impact Center 
Vanderbilt University  |  Peabody College of Education and Human Development 

pn3policy.org  |  Twitter: @pn3policy #pn3policy 

Evidence Review Citation: 
Prenatal-to-3 Policy Impact Center. (2024). Prenatal-to-3 policy clearinghouse evidence review: Shared book reading programs. Peabody College of Education and 
Human Development, Vanderbilt University. http://pn3policy.org/policy-clearinghouse/shared-book-reading-programs/ 


	EIA and Improvement Mechanisms
	Subcommittee Meeting
	PN3PIC_SharedBookReading_EvidenceReview_1024 (002).pdf
	ER_SharedBookReading.pdf
	Evidence Review Findings: Effective / Roadmap Strategy
	What Are Shared Book Reading Programs?
	Who Is Affected by Shared Book Reading Programs?
	What Are the Funding Options for Shared Book Reading Programs?

	Why Should Shared Book Reading Programs Be Expected to Impact the Prenatal-to-3 Period?
	What Impact Do Shared Book Reading Programs Have, and for Whom?
	Access to Needed Services
	Nurturing and Responsive Child-Parent Relationships
	Optimal Child Health and Development
	Additional Insights on ROR Enhancement Programs

	Is There Evidence That Shared Book Reading Programs Reduce Disparities?
	Has the Return on Investment for Shared Book Reading Programs Been Studied?
	What Do We Know, and What Do We Not Know?
	Are Shared Book Reading Programs an Effective Policy for Improving Prenatal-to-3 Outcomes?
	How Did We Reach Our Conclusions?
	Method of Review
	Standards of Strong Causal Evidence
	Studies That Meet Standards of Strong Causal Evidence
	Other References


	Shared Book Reading Programs last page.pdf
	Evidence Review Citation:



